
 

AGENDA FOR 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

 
Contact:: Josh Ashworth 

Direct Line: 0161 253 5667 
E-mail: J.R.Ashworth@bury.gov.uk 
Web Site:  www.bury.gov.uk 

 
 
To: All Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Councillors : D Vernon, J Southworth, M Rahimov, A Arif, 

T Pilkington, D Green, T Rafiq, E Moss, C Birchmore, 
G Marsden and J Harris 

 
 
Dear Member/Colleague 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee which will be held as follows:- 

 

Date: Tuesday, 9 December 2025 

Place:  Council Chamber - Town Hall 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the related 

report should be contacted. 

Notes:  



AGENDA 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES   

 

2   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider whether 
they have an interest in any matters on the agenda and, if so, to formally declare that 
interest. 
 

3   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   
 

A period of 30 minutes has been set aside for members of the public to ask 
questions on matters considered at the last meeting and set out in the minutes or on 
the agenda for tonight’s meeting. 
 

4   MEMBER QUESTION TIME   
 

Questions are invited from Elected Members about items on the agenda. 
15 minutes will be set aside for Member Question Time, if required.  
 

5   MINUTES  (Pages 3 - 6) 

 

Minutes from the meeting held on 25th November 2025 are attached. 
 

6   DRAFT 2026/27 REVENUE BUDGET  (Pages 7 - 28) 
 
Report of the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Transformation is 
attached. 
 

7   COUNCIL IMPROVEMENT PLAN  (Pages 29 - 42) 

 
Report from the Section 151 Officer attached  
 

8   URGENT  BUSINESS   

 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair agrees may 
be considered as a matter of urgency. 
 



 

 

1 

 

 Minutes of: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 Date of Meeting: 25 November 2025 

 
 Present: Councillor D Vernon (in the Chair) 

Councillors J Southworth, M Rahimov, A Arif, T Pilkington, 
D Green, T Rafiq, E Moss, C Birchmore and J Harris 
 

 Also in attendance:  Kate Waterhouse Executive Director or Strategy and 
Transformation 

Chris Woodhouse Strategic Partnership Manager 
Chief Superintendent Kirsty Oliver Bury District Commander 
Councillor S Walmsley Cabinet Member for Communities and 

Inclusion 
Jacqui Dennis Monitoring Officer 

Josh Ashworth Democratic Services 
Rachel Everitt Head of Elections and Land Charges 
 

 Public Attendance: 
 

No members of the public were present at the meeting. 

 Apologies for Absence: 
 

Councillor G Marsden 
 

 
OSC.70  APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies are listed above  
 

OSC.71  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

OSC.72  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

 
There were no public questions.  

 
OSC.73  MEMBER QUESTION TIME  

 
The following question was submitted in advance of the meeting by Councillor Bernstein 
 
"Does the Cabinet member share my concerns in what I feel is inconsistent action from GMP 
in taking appropriate action to threating behaviour from members of the public particularly with 
regards social media activity?"  
 
Cllr Bernstein asked whether the Cabinet Member shared his concerns about inconsistent 
action by GMP in tackling threatening behaviour from the public, particularly on social media. 
In response, Cllr Walmsley acknowledged that victims are often reliant on individual officers 
and approaches can vary across areas. She stressed the importance of not relying on social 
media, encouraged members to block and report malicious content, and proposed a briefing 
for councillors on malicious communications. Cllr Vernon added that councillors need to 
actively engage in reporting incidents. Chief Superintendent Kirsty Oliver explained that social 
media is a national platform, and all malicious communications are reviewed, with Operations 
Ford and Bridger leading in Bury where crimes are identified. She noted the challenges in 
assessing threat, harm and risk. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 25 November 2025  

 
 

 

2 

 
OSC.74  MINUTES  

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 9th September 2025 be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

OSC.75  COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP UPDATE  

 
Councillor Walmsley cabinet member for communities and inclusion presented an overview of 
the circulated report, highlighting that Bury has one of the strongest Community Safety 
Partnerships (CSP) and emphasising the collaborative work that underpins its effectiveness. 
 
Councillor Birchmore raised a question regarding drug and alcohol misuse. Councillor 
Walmsley referred to the response in the report and confirmed that the drug and alcohol action 
plan will be shared. Chief Superintendent Kirsty Oliver added that while drugs remain a key 
issue in Bury, intelligence around ketamine use in Radcliffe is limited. 
 
Councillor Harris asked about knife crime. Kirsty Oliver reported a slight increase, attributing 
this to improved productivity rather than a rise in incidents. She noted ongoing work on 
independent scrutiny, including a survey of 85 members, and confirmed that a video on stop 
searches will be shared. 
 
Councillor Green raised concerns about cannabis use in pubs, cafés, and country parks, 
noting residents’ frustration with enforcement. Kirsty Oliver explained that cannabis is not 
currently a policing priority and outlined the THRIVE risk assessment process used when calls 
are made. She highlighted discussions with the Deputy Mayor about improving intelligence 
gathering and online reporting. 
 
Chris Woodhouse suggested cumulative case analysis to strengthen intelligence-led resource 
allocation. Councillor Rahimov queried trends in domestic abuse and child criminal exploitation 
and whether these were linked to drug-related crimes. Chris explained that data recording 
methods and safeguarding models influence figures and committed to providing additional 
trend information and specific numbers in future reports. 
 
Councillor Birchmore asked about seasonal peaks in domestic abuse. Councillor Walmsley 
highlighted awareness campaigns such as White Ribbon and the “Let’s Stand Together” 
alliance, stressing that engagement should be year-round. Funding streams were discussed, 
with the alliance fund complementing government strategies. 
 
Councillor Vernon sought clarification on Domestic Abuse Protection Orders. Kirsty Oliver 
explained that these orders can be issued regardless of whether the offender is present and 
are an effective tool for victim protection, though they create a significant workload. Councillor 
Walmsley outlined the council’s support for victims through Greater Manchester Victim 
Services, community cafés, and trauma-informed approaches. 
 
Councillor Green raised concerns about licensing, illegal tobacco, and vapes. Councillor 
Walmsley confirmed GMP works closely with the licensing committee and has refused 
applications where necessary. Kirsty Oliver added that intelligence sharing continues and 
highlighted links to organised crime and money laundering, with ongoing operations and 
partnership work. 
Councillor Southworth raised safety concerns at the BEE Network interchange, particularly for 
women and girls. Councillor Walmsley agreed, noting that evenings can feel intimidating and 
stressed the importance of involving women, girls, and young people in the consultation for the 
new interchange. Increased security measures will be included in the consultation. Kirsty 

Page 4



 Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 25 November 2025 
 
 

 
3 

Oliver confirmed that safety for women and girls is a priority and was a factor in appointing a 
Chief Superintendent for Greater Manchester. 
 
Councillor Southworth supported the need for children and young people to be involved in the 
consultation. Councillor Moss referred to a recent attack and asked about measures to make 
the Jewish community feel safer. Kirsty Oliver explained that official communications were led 
by Manchester and focused on reassurance, with outreach to community leaders and 
coordination through the recovery group. She emphasised that community cohesion will 
remain a focus, with efforts to build confidence and ensure voices are heard. 
 
Councillor Arif asked about the outcome of warrants related to illegal e-bike use on Bolton 
Street in Radcliffe. Kirsty Oliver did not have the details but confirmed she would follow up and 
noted that Operation Hurricane is the GMP lead on this issue. 
 
Councillor Harris thanked the police for their efforts and expressed concern that the Jewish 
community feels more fearful than ever. Councillor Walmsley highlighted the importance of 
hate crime reporting and addressing disparities in data sharing. She stressed the need for 
trusted reporting channels and collaboration with the Community Security Trust (CST) to 
ensure all incidents are recorded. 
 
The discussion returned to the TravelSafe app, which routes reports through to transport 
operators. Councillor Vernon praised the strong partnership between the council and GMP and 
asked if further support was needed. Chief Superintendent Kirsty Oliver responded that Bury 
has a robust partnership and the focus for the next 12 months will be on strengthening 
cohesion and creating safer spaces. She noted that the partnership felt strong from the outset 
and continues to improve. 
 
It Was Agreed: 

 The update be noted 

 Share the drug and alcohol action plan 

 Arrange an all member briefing on Operation Ford 
 Chief Superintendent Kirsty Oliver be thanked for attending and supporting the update 

 

OSC.76  LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN ANNUAL 
PERFORMANCE DATA  

 
Jacqui Dennis provided an update on the Ombudsman’s annual report and the council’s 
performance. She noted that in 2023/24 the council was in a poor position, which prompted 
the development of an improvement plan. Since then, significant progress has been made, 
and the council is now in a much stronger position with improved handling of complaints and 
responses to the Ombudsman. 
 
Jacqui highlighted the figures for upheld complaints and financial awards: in 2023/24 there 
were 18 cases amounting to £12,900, whereas in 2024/25 there have been only 8 cases 
totaling £3,100. This demonstrates a clear improvement. She also confirmed that staff have 
received training from the Ombudsman on complaint handling and satisfactory remedies. 
 
Cllr Moss commented that complaints are not always negative and that Ombudsman 
involvement is part of accountability. He acknowledged the improvement in performance and 
the strides made by the council. Jacqui confirmed that future reports will be improved for clarity 
and detail. 
 
Cllr Green asked what steps are taken when complaints are upheld to ensure corrective 
actions are implemented. Jacqui explained that figures are reported to Governance and 

Page 5



Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 25 November 2025  

 
 

 

4 

Assurance Boards, directors are made aware, and responses are signed off at the appropriate 
level. 
 
Jacqui also addressed concerns around education and children’s services, noting that 
previous high numbers were linked to SEN cases. With a new Head of Service and changes in 
approach, only two cases have been recorded this year, indicating significant improvement. 
 
The discussion concluded with recognition of the progress made and a commitment to 
continue monitoring upheld complaints and refining reporting. 
 
It Was Agreed: 

 

 The update be noted 
 

OSC.77  URGENT  BUSINESS  

 
There was no urgent business. 

 

 
 

 
COUNCILLOR D VERNON 
Chair  

 
(Note:  The meeting started at 7.00 pm and ended at 8.40 pm) 

 
 

Page 6



  

 

Report to: Cabinet Date: 03 December 2025 

Subject: Draft 2026/27 Revenue Budget 

Report of Cabinet Member for Finance and Transformation 

Summary 

 

1. To present to members the updated budget position for 2026/27, comprising: 

 Refreshed budget assumptions and funding movements. 

 Draft revenue budget proposals. 

2. To inform members of the updated budget gap of £16.000m for 2026/27 before 

applying any of the offsetting draft revenue budget proposals. 

3. To present a draft set of budget proposals of £8.453m in 2026/27, £3.237m in 

2027/28 and £2.887m in 2028/298, totalling £14.577m, which are in line with the 

Council’s strategy to close the budget gap over the medium-term.  

4. To inform members of the remaining budget gap for 2026/27 of £7.547m. 

 
5. To inform members of the forecast reserves position over the three years 2026/27 

to 2028/29. 

 
6. To set out the 2026/27 budget setting process ahead of Budget Council on 25 

February 2026. 

 
Recommendation(s) 

 

7. Approve the set of draft revenue budget proposals totalling £14.577m for inclusion 

in the Cabinet proposals for the setting of the 2026/27 revenue budget to be 

considered by Council on 25 February 2026. 
 

8. Approve consultation on draft budget proposals between 4th December to 19th 
January 2026.  

 
9. Note that the outcomes of the budget consultation will be reported back to 

Members and used to inform the budget setting proposals and referred to Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee for their consideration. 

 
10. Note the remaining budget gap of £7.547m for 2026/27 with further budget 

proposals to be presented to Cabinet in January 2026. 
 

11. Note the forecast reserves balance for 2026/27. 
 

 

Classification: 

Open 

Decision Type: 

Key 

 

Page 7 Agenda Item 6



Reasons for recommendation(s) 

 

11. The Council has a legal requirement annually to set a balanced budget and Council 

Tax and where necessary undertake consultation with the public, businesses, 

stakeholders and internally with staff and through Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  

12. To update members on the Councils budgetary position and set out the work plan 

to reduce the forecast budget gap ahead of Budget Council on 25 February 2026. 

 
Alternative options considered and rejected 

 

13. The current assumption within the MTFS is for an on-going 4.99% annual Council 

Tax increase (2.99% general precept and 2% adult social care precept). 

14. An alternative option could be made to increase its ‘relevant basic amount of 

council tax’ above the levels that will be set out in the 2026/27 Local Government 
Finance Settlement published later in the year, but this would require holding a 

local referendum and a majority vote. 

 
15. A 1% increase or decrease in Council Tax is the equivalent to c£1.27m. 

 

 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name: Neil Kissock 
Position: Director of Finance 
Department:    Corporate Core Department 
E-mail:  n.kissock@bury.gov.uk 

Page 8

mailto:n.kissock@bury.gov.uk


Background 

 

2025/26 Base Budget 

16. The budget report presented to Budget Council on 25 February 2025 set out the 

Council’s budget requirement for the 2025/26 financial year and provided details on 

the Council’s reserves position. This process is in accordance with statutory 
requirements and proper accounting practices. 

17. Council approved a net revenue budget of £238.257m for 2025/26, which included 

an approved use of the budget stabilisation reserve of £5.858m held within the Non-

Service Specific Directorate, to address the structural funding deficit and balance 
the revenue budget. 

 
The graph below shows the representation of the net revenue budget of 

£238.257m by Directorate. 
 

 

 
 

 

Health & Adult Care, 
£96.746, 41%

Children & Young 
People, £65.238, 

27%

Corporate 
Core 

Services, 

£31.416, …

Non-Service Specific, 
£29.710, 13%

Place, £15.226, 6% Housing General 
Fund, -£0.079, 0%

2025/26 REVISED NET REVENUE BUDGET £238.257M

Page 9



18. A further analysis of the net revenue budget by type of expenditure and income 

shows the main areas of budget spend being staffing, demand and contracts and 
sales, fees and charges, as shown in the table below: 

 

 

Budget Group Inc/Exp Budget Control Group 

Revised 
Budget 

£m 

Net Budget Exp Staff & Related Expenses £111.239 

Net Budget Exp Demand & Contractual £174.189 

Net Budget Exp Other Expenditure £22.853 

SERVICE EXPENDITURE TOTAL £308.281 

Net Budget Inc Government Grants (£6.753) 

Net Budget Inc Other Grants & Contributions (£0.963) 

Net Budget Inc Sales, Fees & Charges (£42.869) 

Net Budget Inc Other Income (£39.281) 

SERVICE INCOME TOTAL (£89.867) 

SERVICE RECHARGES TOTAL (£17.177) 

SERVICE RESERVES TOTAL (£0.752) 

Net Budget   Housing Benefit (£0.292) 

Net Budget   Precepts & Levies £29.212 

Net Budget   
Treasury & Capital Financing 

Costs 
£6.813 

Net Budget   Provisions & Contingency £2.038 

OTHER EXPENDITURE & INCOME ITEMS TOTAL £37.771 

NET REVENUE BUDGET TOTAL £238.256 

Funding   Council Tax (£119.350) 

Funding   NNDR (£73.546) 

Funding   Funding Grants (£39.503) 

FUNDING TOTAL (£232.398) 

CORPORATE RESERVES TOTAL (£5.858) 

        

GENERAL FUND TOTAL £0.00 

 

 
2025/26 Quarter One Forecast Outturn Position 

19. Delivery of the 2025/26 budget is fundamentally important as any emerging and 

recurring additional demand and cost pressures will increase the budget gap 
position previously reported. 

20. The 2025/26 Quarter One position was presented to 20 September 2025 Cabinet 

which showed a projected forecast £4.148m overspend (1.74%) against the net 
revenue budget of £238.257m, as shown in the table below. 

 
21. The two main areas contributing to the £4.148m overspend were: 

 

 Adults: the Care in Community budget forecast to overspend by £1.942m. 

 Children’s: home-to-school transport forecast to overspend by £0.440m and the 
Children Looked After (CLA) budgets forecast to overspend by £2.577m. 

Page 10



 
These service areas make-up a significant and increasing proportion of the 
revenue budget reflecting the additional demand for, and cost of, the services being 
commissioned.  These are national issues and not unique to Bury. 
 
 

2025/26 Quarter 1 Forecast 
Outturn 

  Q1 Q1 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Forecast 
Variance  

£m £m £m 

Directorate:       

Health and Adult Care £97.154 £99.096 £1.942 

Children & Young People £64.532 £67.549 £3.017 

Corporate Core Services £30.618 £31.365 £0.747 

Non-Service Specific £31.522 £29.965 -£1.557 

Place £14.509 £14.509 £0.000 

Housing General Fund (£0.079) (£0.079) £0.000 

NET REVENUE BUDGET £238.257 £242.405 £4.148 

Funding:       

Council Tax (£119.350) (£110.198) £0.000 

Business Rates (£73.546) (£71.282) £0.000 

Government Funding Grants (£39.503) (£39.503) £0.000 

FUNDING (£232.398) (£220.983) £0.000 

Use of Reserves:       

Budget Stabilisation Reserve (£5.858) (£5.858) £0.000 

USE OF RESERVES (£05.858) (£05.858) £0.000 

BUDGET POSITION £0.000 £15.564 £4.148 

 
Financial Overview 

 

National Context – Fair Funding Review 

 
22. It has been widely accepted that the current funding system for local government 

is out of date and no longer fair.  The Fair Funding Review 2.0 (FFR) will update 
the methodology for distributing the total quantum of funding between local 
authorities currently covered by the Local Government Finance Settlement.  

 

23. The underlying data which determines the current distribution method has not been 
updated since 2013, when the Business Rate retention system was introduced and 
as such the review is largely welcomed across the sector.  As the government have 
reduced grant funding to councils and council tax income has continued to grow, 
the proportion of council funding raised by local taxation has increased, which 
benefits those councils with a greater ability to raise income via Council Tax. This 

has resulted in a weakening of the relationship between the relative needs and 
resources and the actual allocations through the Settlement Funding Assessment.  

 
24. The government has carried out a comprehensive consultation which the Council 

responded to in line with the deadline of 15 August 2025. The consultation reflected 
many issues raised previously and recommends incorporating evidence-based 

factors within the new funding formulas, including deprivation, key demand drivers 
and updated population levels.  An “area cost adjustment” is included which 

Page 11



attempts to allow for relative differences in the cost of delivery of services across 
different areas.  Lastly, there is an adjustment for council tax equalisation reflecting 
the relative ability of local authorities to raise revenues themselves via council tax.  

 
25. In addition to the review of needs and resources, the Government also plans to roll 

further grants into the Settlement Funding Assessment, such as approximately 

£10bn of social care funding. These grants will then be subject to the outcome of 
the FFR process and redistribution.  

 
26. Government estimates that there are currently approximately 300 revenue grant 

streams and aims to simplify and consolidate these into the four main pillars below: 
 

 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 

 Public Health 

 Crisis and Resilience (Household Support Fund and Discretionary Housing 
Support) 

 Children’s Families and Youth Grants 
 

27. There will also be several changes to the Business rates retention system (BRRS) 
in 2026/27 which will take place concurrently including: 

 

 The business rates baseline will be reset in 2026/27, with the growth to be 

redistributed based on a needs assessment. 

 A revaluation in 2026 will be implemented from 1 April 2026. 

 New reduced business rates multipliers will be introduced for Retail, Hospitality 
and Leisure (RHL hereditaments, paid for by increases in multipliers for large 

businesses with rateable values over £500,000. 

 Decisions are due on whether the existing multipliers will be indexed or frozen. 
 

28. The government has not released an exemplification to show how the revised 
formulas would impact funding for individual councils. Several sector experts have 
produced scenario modelling, which indicates that Bury could benefit slightly from 

the redistribution in terms of receiving a slightly higher proportion of funding based 
on the proposed formula changes.  

 
29. Fair Funding modelling of the potential outcomes must be treated with caution; 

there are several key risks as follows: 
 

 Policy decisions – the final outcomes are subject to consultation responses and 
policy decisions yet to be taken by Ministers.   

 Data sets will be updated before the final settlement. This is expected to include 
population forecasts, Index of Multiple Deprivation, journey time, traffic flow and 
the Council Tax base (CTB1). 

 Accuracy of modelling – in the absence of exemplifications, advisors have made 
assumptions on how the changes could be applied; minor variations can result 
in significant financial impacts. These assumptions are unlikely to be fully 
correct. 

 Confirmation of the overall quantum of funding being made available to local 

government as part of the promised multi-year settlement including expectations 
with regard to the level of future council tax increases which is currently 4.99% 
per annum made up of a 2.99% general precept and a 2% adult social care 
precept. 

Page 12



 
30. In conclusion, FFR2.0 will have a fundamental impact on the Council’s funding 

which is impossible to fully predict until the Government makes its final decisions 
on the set up of the funding distribution model. The total Spending Power subject 
to this review is in the region of £70bn nationally.  Therefore, a small change of 
c0.01% equates to £7m, demonstrating the sensitivity of the distribution modelling. 

The underlying government assumption on council tax is that all councils are 
expected to increase by the maximum 4.99% currently permissible including 2% 
for Adult Social Care. 

 
Budget Process 

 

2026/27 Budget Approach 

 
31. The vision for Bury 2030 is built upon conversations with communities and with 

an aspiration for Bury to: 

Stand out as a place that is achieving faster economic growth than the 

national average, with lower than national average levels of deprivation. 

 

Progress to achieving the vision for Bury 2030 will be measured by tracking 
seven core outcome measures of: 

 
1)  Improved quality of life. 

2)  Improved early years development. 

3)  Improved educational attainment. 
4)  Increased adult skill levels and employability. 
5)  Inclusive economic growth. 

6)  Carbon neutrality by 2038. 
7)  Improved digital connectivity. 

 

32. The Let’s Do It! strategy sets out four clear principles that will drive everything the Council 
does through: 

1) Local neighbourhoods. 
2)  An Enterprising spirit. 
3)  Delivering Together. 
4)  A Strengths-based approach. 

 
33. Rolling two-year delivery plans are produced, with a clear set of priorities to create 

the conditions for change.  The current 2025-26 Corporate Plan sets out the vision 
for the Council that is financially sound, delivers its statutory responsibilities and 

contributes to the borough’s LET’S Do It! outcomes. 
 

34. The three core overarching priorities remain unchanged for 2025/26 with an additional 

enabling priority added, delivery of which will also secure financial stability. The 
priorities overlay the “business as usual” departmental functions which are 

described separately in service planning documents. 

 
The three core strategic priorities for 2025/26 are defined as follows: 

1)  Sustainable Inclusive Growth – to deliver the all-age work and skills strategy, 

Page 13



develop a new Housing Strategy, continue the levelling up programmes, 

strategic regeneration along with the Local Plan, Northern Gateway Masterplan 
and our continued commitment to carbon neutrality. 

2)  Improving Children’s Lives – This priority details the continued delivery of the 
SEND and Social Care improvement plans, continuing transformation of our Pupil 
Referral Unit offer, establishing and Education and Inclusion strategy and 
agreement of a multi-agency plan in response to social care reforms.  

3)  Tackling Inequalities – develop a health inequalities strategy and deliver our 

improvement plan for Adult Social Care alongside an update of the health and 

care transformation in the borough.  To accelerate the neighbourhood model 
and develop a Wellness strategy and deliver the Green Spaces and Culture 

strategies, implement the New Community Safety plan.  Deliver improvements 
to social housing, including decarbonisation and increased tenant satisfaction. 

35. The additional enabling actions are needed to ensure the organisational conditions 
necessary to deliver these priorities.  The actions include the themes of Financial 

Sustainability, Workforce, Culture and Inclusion and Transformation.   

36. The connection between these priorities of the Corporate Plan and the MTFS have 
been illustrated through the increased demand data for Children’s Social Care, 
SEND, Adult Social Care and Housing, all of which have placed in year pressures 

on the budget as reflected in [21-23] above.  As such, further work is being 
undertaken to look at how work on these areas can be re-focused to reduce in-year 

projects and support the budget strategy. 

 
Budget Movements: Assumptions & Funding 

 

Budget Update: December 2025 

 
37. A review of the MTFS budget assumptions and assumed funding has been 

undertaken. The outcome of the provisional local government finance settlement 
will not be confirmed until some point in the week commencing 15th December 
2025. Given the inherent unprecedented uncertainty with regard to the funding 

changes affecting local government which could lead to a material variance from 
our core assumptions, this report covers the impact on the 2026/27 budget position 
and not a longer-term update of the medium-term financial position which ordinarily 
looks three years ahead. This is primarily as any material variance in the multi-year 
settlement from the current assumptions could have a compound impact on future 
years and potentially lead to a misleading position being reported based on current 

assumptions. Therefore, the updated medium term financial strategy position will 
be updated and reported to Cabinet in the new year reflecting the outcome of the 
multi-year settlement. 

 
38. The table below summarises the budget movements since February 2025, to show 

the budget gap position for the two-years 2026/27 to 2027/29 at December 2025 

of £25.855m, a net increase of £14.284m before savings proposals are included. 
 

  Dec-25 

2026/27 - 2028/29 Budget Movements Summary 2026/27 

  £m 

BUDGET GAP [FEBRUARY 2025] £9.612 

Budget Assumptions Movements:   

Page 14



Revision of Pay Award Assumptions £1.046 

Contractual Inflation £2.358 

Revision of the Corporate Budget Assumptions (£1.678) 

Update Adults Inflation (incl. RLW) & Demand Assumptions £0.600 

Update Children's Inflation (incl. RLW) & Demand Assumptions £4.547 

Update Corporate Core Services pressures including Temporary   
Accommodation and Insurance  

£4.144 

Update Place pressures £0.850 

Capital Receipt Flexibilities (£2.000) 
NET BUDGET MOVEMENT £9.867 

Funding Movements:   

Council Tax update / Insertion of 28/29 Taxbase (£0.901) 

Business Rates estimated update for FFR2.0 / insertion of 28/29 (£37.465) 

Removal of Funding Grants per FFR2.0 £38.978 

Addition of Business Rates Grant per FFR2.0 (£4.090) 

ASSUMED FUNDING MOVEMENT (£3.478) 

    
UPDATED BUDGET GAP [DEC 2025] £16.000 

CUMULATIVE BUDGET GAP [DEC 2025] £16.000 

  
SAVINGS PROPOSALS (£8.453) 

    
UPDATED CUMMULATIVE BUDGET GAP AFTER SAVINGS 

[DEC 2025] 
£7.547 

 
39. The chart below shows the budget gap of £16.000m over the two years 2025/26 to 

2026/27, whilst Council on 25 February 2025 approved a budget, this was 
supported by £5.858m use of reserves. 

40. The chart below excludes the use of reserves, to demonstrate that the net revenue  

budget and future cost and demand pressures to deliver services exceeds the 
current level of funding provided by central government to the Council. 

 

 
 

 

2025/26
£m

2026/27
£m

Net Budget
Requirement

£238.256 £262.135

Assumed Funding £232.398 £246.135

Budget Gap /(
Headroom)

£5.858 £16.000

£225.000

£230.000

£235.000

£240.000

£245.000

£250.000

£255.000

£260.000

£265.000

£m

Budget Gap by 2025/27

Page 15



Budget Assumptions 

 
41. Budget assumptions have increased by £9.867m for 2026/27 with funding 

assumptions of -£3.478m, significant items include: 
 

 Pay Award: This has been increased from 2% to 3% for 2026/27, an increase 

of £1.046m from the £2.164m previously included to a total of £3.210m to reflect 

both the upward movement in inflation and revised inflation forecasts, since the 
budget was set. 

 

 Treasury Management:  Investment income and interest payable budgets have 

been revised based on the forecast borrowing profile. 

 

 Real Living Wage: 6.7% uplift for 2026/27 has been confirmed by the Living Wage 

Foundation which is 1.7% higher than the original assumptions of 5% (£2.853m) 
and will impact primarily on adult social care fee levels. This increase of 1.7% 

equates to £1.882m less increased client contributions of £0.839m, leaving a net 

increase of £1.043m. 

 

 Adults Community Care Budget: inflation increase of 2% for 2026/27 (£1.567m) 

and demand growth £0.875m, for 2026/27, a decrease of £0.443m due to updated 

population and age profile data.  

 

 Adults Transition Budget: Demand growth of £2.4m (111.00%) for 2027/28 and 

£0.8m (19%) for 2027/28, unchanged from previous assumptions.  

 
 Children Looked After Budgets: Inflation (8%), demand growth (8%) and 

catchup £6.7m for 2026/27, this is an additional £4.547m which has been 

included as growth in the 2026/27 budget of which £2.3m reflects the increase 

in residential placements and £1.0m is in relation to increased Home to School 
Transport demands, both of which have been reported to Cabinet in the Quarter 

One monitoring update.  

 

 Homelessness / Temporary Accommodation: An additional £1.0m has been 

included as growth in the 2026/27 budget reflecting the increased demand for 

support. 

 

 Insurance: An additional £1.144m has been included in the 2026/27 budget 

reflecting the increase in the cost of the council’s insurance cover following the 

re-tender completed in March.  
 

 Capital Receipts: The flexibility for councils to use capital receipts to support 

revenue expenditure that delivers service transformation has been extended 

and £2m is included within the proposed 2026/27 budget. 

 

 Funding : We are currently forecasting £3.478m of additional funding as part of 

the Fair Funding Review changes but this is subject to the outcome of the 

consultation and final settlement. 

 

Page 16



Funding 

 
42. Assumed funding increases by £25.709m over the two years 2026/27 to 

2027/28, significant items include: 

 Council Tax Base: 2.19% increase for growth in 2026/27 and 1.23% in 2027/28 

and a 0.5% increase in the collection rate for 2026/27. The collection rate 

increase represents an ambitious improvement target for the service with every 

additional 1% collected equating to an additional c.£1m of income and will 
therefore be closely monitored. 

 Council Tax Relevant Basic Amount: on-going assumption that government 

will keep the referendum limit at the current 2.99% over the three years. 

 Council Tax Social Care Precept: on-going assumption that government will 

continue with the social care precept of 2% over the three years. 

 Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit: assumed increase in the collection of 

arrears and reduction in the arrears provision. 

 

Summary 

43. A subjective breakdown of the updated £16.000m budget gap is shown in the 

table below: 

 

  Dec-25 

2026/27 - 2028/29 Budget Estimates 2026/27 

  £m 

Net Budget b/fwd £238.256 

Budget Assumptions:   

Pay Award £3.210 

Pay Base Movements (£1.612) 

Agency Staff (£0.530) 

Contractual Inflation £5.110 

Real Living Wage £4.562 

General Inflation £0.191 

Demand/Volume/Activity Base Movements £11.031 

Grants, Contributions & Income Recovery (£0.786) 

Sales, Fees & Charges Levels £0.100 

Recharges HRA, School, Capital & Internal (£0.114) 

Service Reserve Movements £0.000 

Housing Benefit £0.000 

Precepts & Levies £3.860 

Treasury & Capital (£0.241) 

Provisions & Contingency £5.862 

Other £0.000 

Total Budget Assumptions £30.642 

Page 17



Approved Budget Proposals:   

Savings Proposals (£6.763) 

Policy Proposals £0.000 

Total Approved Budget Proposals (£6.763) 

NET BUDGET £262.135 

Assumed Funding:   

Council Tax (£126.917) 

Business Rates (£114.082) 

Prior Year Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit (£1.047) 

Government Funding Grants (£4.090) 

ASSUMED FUNDING (£246.135) 

    

ANNUAL INCREMENTAL BUDGET GAP £16.000 

CUMULATIVE BUDGET GAP £16.000 

 
 

Budget Proposals 

 

Budget Proposals 

 
44. Since February 2025 Budget Council, the Council has undertaken a detailed zero 

based budgeting exercise to identify budget proposals to reduce the budget gap.  
This work has included: 

 

 Further detailed analysis and review of existing income and expenditure 

budgets. 

 Detailed service budget review and challenge sessions. 

 Benchmarking against comparator councils and a review of statutory and 
discretionary service costs. 

 
45. The table below shows a summary of the budget proposals generated through the 

new gateway process and the impact of reducing the budget gap, a full listing of the 

draft budget proposals is provided in Appendix 1. 
 

  Dec-25 

2026/27- 2028/29 Budget Proposals Summary 2026/27 

  £m 

BUDGET GAP [DEC 2025] £16.000 

Draft Budget Proposals:   

Draft Budget Proposals (Operational Decision) (£8.453) 

Draft Budget Proposals (Policy Decision) £0.000  

Total Draft Budget Proposals (£8.453) 

ANNUAL INCREMENTAL BUDGET GAP £7.547 

CUMULATIVE BUDGET GAP £7.547 

 

Page 18



 

The above table shows that by taking forward the draft budget proposals the 

forecast budget gap in 2026/27 will reduce by £8.453m, from £16.000m to 

£7.547m. 

 
Budget and Staff Consultation 

 

46. To identify additional savings that will support the delivery for a financially 
sustainable position, all services have been reviewed, and this has initially resulted 

in the identification of savings proposals totalling £14.577m over the next the years.  

These have all been assessed as for management action that are within delegated 
powers for officer decisions with none of the proposals requiring policy decisions 

however further work is continuing between the issuing of the report and January 
2026. If matters arise that require separate specific consultation this will be the 

subject of a report to Members in January 2026.  
 
Management Actions 

47. All of the savings proposals have been identified as management actions rather 
than policy decisions and are not expected to have a negative impact on service 
delivery. These savings total £8.453m in 2026/27 and £6.124m over the 3 year 
period through to 2028/29.  The most significant element of this relates to those 

identified within the Health and Adult Care Directorate with savings proposals of 
£2.628m in 2026/27 and £6.586m over the next 3 years overall being identified.  £5m 

of this, with £1.667m deliverable in 2026/27, has resulted from the deep-dive work 
that has been undertaken with Impower in the last few months to identify the scope 
and scale for further savings following a detailed assessment. The savings primarily 

relate to the continuation and extension of measures designed to enhance health 
and social care delivery by implementing a more robust and consistent strengths-

based, person-centred care model. This will continue to focus on empowering 
individuals and improving care quality to maximise independence wherever 
possible, thereby reducing the numbers of people needing to enter the care system 

and also reducing the proportion requiring the most expensive long-term care 
provision. There is also a saving of £0.5m over the next 3 years being proposed in 

relation to reducing the level of the current council subsidy of leisure services 
through operating more commercially and increasing income levels, further detailed 
work is being carried out in relation to this proposal.   

48. The next largest savings area relates to estimated savings of £3.000m over the 
next three years, with £1m deliverable in 2026/27, linked to a c2% reduction in third 
party spend which will be supported and linked to investment in a new Procurement 

and Contract Management future operating model which will come to Cabinet in 
January 2026 for formal approval. The savings opportunity and related business 
case has been identified as one of the core deliverables of the finance transformation 

programme and Unit 4 upgrade.  In advance of the investment being agreed, a new 
contract platform is anticipated to go live initially from January, and this will 

strengthen compliance and oversight and reduce current fragmentation of data.  
Savings will come from supplier and contract aggregation, improved spend controls, 
upstream commissioning and procurement alignment and contract negotiation and 

management improvements 

49. There are also £2.000m of savings linked to a Strategic Workforce review, it is 

Page 19



expected that this can be delivered in 2026/27 via a combination of reflecting staff 
turnover levels in an associated increase in the  vacancy factor, reducing the 
current over-reliance on agency staff and the related premium in cost and moving 

away from the current arrangements where posts are budgeted for at the top of 
grade cost. A total of £1.694m over the 3 years relates to the Children and Young 

People Directorate with the largest single element being in respect of a proposed 
£1m reduction in placement costs including the mitigating the increasing costs of 
children’s social care through keeping families together wherever possible and 

appropriate and meeting care needs in the most cost-effective way possible. 

50. A saving of £377k is proposed relating to reducing the growth in temporary 

accommodation costs through the purchase of seven properties for this purpose to 
be funded in part from the Local Authority Housing Fund and a separate report is 
on this Cabinet agenda for approval of the Council’s matched funding investment 

requirement. 
 
2026/27 Budget and 2027-29 MTFS Position 

 

Budget Summary 

 
51. A summary of all the movements to the February 2025 budget gap of £9.612m to 

the December 2025 updated budget gap of £7.547m after savings, is shown in 
the table below: 

 

  Dec-25 

2026/27 - 2028/29 Draft Budget Summary 2026/27 

  £m 

BUDGET GAP [FEBRUARY 2025] £9.612 

Net Budget:   

Budget Assumption Movements £9.867 

Draft Budget Proposals (£8.453) 

Budget Proposals to be Developed £0.000 

TOTAL NET BUDGET MOVEMENTS £1.414 

Assumed Funding:   

Funding Movements (£3.478) 

TOTAL ASSUMED FUNDING MOVEMENTS (£3.478) 

    

ANNUAL INCREMENTAL BUDGET GAP £7.547 

CUMULATIVE BUDGET GAP £7.547 

 

 

Budget Table 

 

52. Based on the current budget assumptions & proposals and assumed funding, the 

2026/27 net revenue budget would increase by £23.879m (10.02%), from 

£238.257m to £262.136m, as shown in the table below: 
 

  Dec-25 

Page 20



2026/27 - 2028/29 MTFS Summary 2026/27 

  £m 

Directorate:   

Health & Adult Care £105.283 

Children & Young People £69.607 

Corporate Core Services £33.122 

Non-Service Specific £37.538 

Place £16.665 

Housing General Fund (£0.079) 

NET BUDGET £262.135 

Assumed Funding:   

Council Tax (£126.917) 

Business Rates (£114.082) 

Prior Year Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit (£1.047) 

Government Funding Grants (£4.090) 

ASSUMED FUNDING (£246.135) 

    

ANNUAL INCREMENTAL BUDGET GAP £16.000 

CUMULATIVE BUDGET GAP £16.000 

 

 

Sensitivities, Risks & Opportunities 

 

Sensitivity 

53. A sensitivity of the significant budget assumptions and funding items is shown in 
the table below: 

 

 

  

Potential Full Year 
Impact of 1% 
Movement 

Sensitivity Analysis £m 

Council Tax (level, taxbase and collection rates) +/- £1.269 

Pay Award +/- £1.046 

Real Living Wage +/- £0.525 

Adults Community Care: inflation and demand growth +/- £0.948 

Adults Transition Budget: demand growth +/- £0.297 

Children Looked After Budget: inflation and demand growth +/- £0.852 

Treasury & Capital Financing Costs +/- £1.383 

 

Risks & Opportunities 

 
54. Legislation requires that annually the Council sets a balanced and robust budget, 

which is sufficient to meet its legal obligations, and then its aspirations. This 

requires all plans to be costed, forecasts and estimates to be checked for 
reasonableness, and risks to be assessed across the many varied services the 
Council provides. This also includes an assessment for emergencies, severe 

weather and other service and strategic risks. 

Page 21



 

55. Robustness does not guarantee that all possible eventualities are identified, or that 
all budget estimates are precise. Actual income and expenditure will likely vary from 

the approved budget, but in the round, these will offset one another, and the 
approved budget will be sufficient to meet overall expenditure requirements. 

56. In exercising their statutory duty the Director of Finance, in conjunction with the 

Executive Team, will take all matters and issues into consideration and will make a 
reasoned assessment of whether the budget is sufficient and robust.  The Director 

of Finance will ensure that the minimum reserve level is maintained to ensure the 
Council can meet its legal obligations. 

57. The Council faces various financial risks including: 

 

 The ability to deliver savings at agreed values and within agreed timescales. 

 Potential legal challenges to decisions. 

 Fees and charges income differing to assumptions. 

 Variations to external funding and grant allocations. 

 Variations to modelling carried out on the new Fair Funding Review 2.0 (FFR2.0) 

 Demographic pressures. 

 Inflation and interest rates differing to assumptions. 

 Business Rates: potential costs of backdated appeals. 

 Variations to external levies & contracts. 

 Future changes to legislation. 

 Failure of Project Safety Valve to comply with the management plan. 

 Schools academisations deficits. 

 The significant financial challenge currently being faced by the NHS locally. 

 
Reserves & Balances 

 

Reserve Forecast 

 
58. In accordance with statutory regulations and CIPFA guidance, the levels of 

balances and reserves are reviewed during the budget process to ensure that they 
are currently sufficient, and that they will remain adequate over the medium term. 

 

59. The Council's historic and medium-term approach involves using reserves to 
support the budget position while savings are being realised. The in-year 

assumption is that £7.547m of reserves will be required to enable the Council to 
achieve a balanced budget for 2026/27. 

 
60. The graph below shows a summary of the reserves usage over the last five 

financial years which clearly shows the impact of the historic use of reserves to 

balance the Council’s budget in reducing the overall earmarked reserves by 
£70.013m from £131.583m to £61.570m. 

 
 

Page 22



 
 
 
 

61. A breakdown of the levels of Earmarked Reserves as at 31/3/2025 can be seen 

below. 
 

General Fund RESERVES 

Balance 
at  
31 

March  
2025 

£m 

      

General Fund (GF)   (£10.000) 

Directorate Reserves   (£4.013) 

Corporate Reserves Investment Reserves (£2.816) 

Corporate Reserves Risk Reserves (£10.905) 

Corporate Reserves Stabilisation Reserves (£25.638) 

Corporate Reserves Funding Reserves (£1.542) 

External Funding   (£8.701) 

Earmarked Balances Sub Total   (£53.615) 

Schools Reserves   (£2.972) 

S106 Commuted Sums   (£4.984) 

Earmarked Reserves Total   (£61.571) 

GF RESERVES TOTAL   (£71.571) 

 
62. The table below shows an illustration of utilisation of the budget stabilisation 

reserve to fund the 2025/26 budget gap and the 2026/27 budget gap and shows 
that there would be insufficient to meet the current budget gap beyond 2027/28. 

That demonstrates an unsustainable financial position over the medium-term, 
whereby the Council will be unable to set a balanced budget in 2028/29, without 
identifying further savings proposals, and potentially sooner should any future 

events including in-year overspends have an adverse impact on the level of reserve 
balances. 

£131.583

£115.476

£91.809 £89.619

£61.570

£0.000

£20.000

£40.000

£60.000

£80.000

£100.000

£120.000

£140.000

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Earmarked reserves Level 2020-21 to 2024-25
(£m)

Page 23



 
 

Stabilisation Reserve 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

  £m £m £m £m 

Opening Balance (£25.638) (£19.780) (£12.233) (£4.686) 

Use for budget gap £5.858 £7.547 £7.547 £7.547 

Forecast closing 
balance 

(£19.780) (£12.233) (£4.686) £2.861 

 
63. To reduce the dependence on reserves and address the structural funding shortfall, 

it is essential that further savings, efficiencies or income generation are identified 

over the three-year MTFS period 2026/27 to 2028/29 to stabilise the Council’s 
finances over the medium-term.  

 
64. The current timelines for 2026/27 budget setting are shown in the table below: 

 
 

Budget Timeline & Workplan 

 

Timelines 

 
65. The current timelines for 2026/27 budget setting are shown in the table below: 

 

Report Committee Meeting Date 

 
2026/27 Budget Report 

Budget Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 

5 February 2026 

Budget Cabinet 11 February 2026 
Budget Council 25 February 2026 

 
Future Workplan 

 
66. The aim between now and February is to reduce the current £7.547m 2026/27 

budget gap detailed in this report and therefore reduce the impact on reserves.  
This work is in progress with further budget proposals to come forward to Cabinet 

in the new year for inclusion in the 2026/27 budget to be considered by Council in 
February.  This next phase of budget work is framed primarily over the three 
themes of: 

 

1) Internal Transformation: 

This includes the development of a workforce and digital strategy including 

looking at the scope for becoming more cost-effective and efficient in our 
service delivery models including opportunities for automation and process 

improvement with a good example being the transformation work linked to 
the upgrade of Unit 4 which has £1.300m of efficiency savings linked to it 

over the three-year period of 2026/27 to 2028/29. This will underpin and 

support the ongoing work on service reviews and the right-sizing of staffing 
budgets.  

2) Contain Growth / Demand Pressures: 

A significant proportion of the forecast funding gap is the result of ongoing 
increasing demand, particularly Children’s and Adults Social Care.  Whilst 

Page 24



these are national issues and pressures not unique to Bury, investment in 

commissioning expertise is required in order to reduce Children’s demand 
and the cost of meeting that demand.  

3) Income in the Place Directorate: 

This includes ensuring that all current sales, fees and charges are reviewed to 

ensure they cover the full cost of service delivery, and new avenues of 

income generation are fully explored, including, but not limited to parking 
fees and traffic enforcement charges. 

 
 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 
 
Links with the LET’S Do It! Strategy are set out above.  

 
 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

A full EIA will be provided on finalised budget proposals being submitted to Cabinet.  
 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

A full impact assessment will be completed on finalised budget proposals being submitted 
to Cabinet.  

 

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

As set out in the body of the report.  
 
 

Legal Implications: 

 

This report provides members with details of budget proposals. The Medium-

Term Financial Strategy will be considered by Cabinet in January 2026.  

 

The report outlines the steps needed to progress with the Council’s budget 

setting process. It is proposed that consultation takes place with the public in 

relation to the budget proposals between 4th December and the 19th of January. 

This consultation will inform the finalised budget proposals.  

 

 The Council must consult where there are specific legislative requirements or 

where the public would legitimately expect the Council to do so. All consultation 

must take place at an early stage and must abide by the principles of good 

consultation. The outcomes from the consultation will be reviewed and brought 

to Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny for consideration.  

As part of the budget setting process workforce consultation will take place in 

relation to these proposals. In addition to the specific legislative requirements 

which will be specific to the proposal the Equality Act 20103 states that public 

Page 25



bodies must have “due regard” to a variety of equalities objectives under the 

Equality Act 2010. 

 

In order to ensure we have given due regard we need to demonstrate that we 
understand how decisions or policies can affect those with protected 

characteristics and whether they will be disproportionately affected. Consulting 
is therefore an important part of meeting the equality duty. 

 

In setting the budget the Council has a duty to ensure: 

 It continues to meet its statutory duties 

 Governance processes are robust and support effective decision making 

 Its Medium-Term Financial Strategy reflects the significant challenges being 

faced and remains responsive to the uncertainties in the economy by continuing 
to deliver against its savings targets 

 Its savings plans are clearly communicated and linked to specific policy 

decisions, with the impact on service provision clearly articulated 

 It has the appropriate levels of reserves and that it closely monitors its liquidity 
to underpin its financial resilience 

 It continues to provide support to members and officers responsible for 

managing budgets 

 It prepares its annual statement of accounts in an accurate and timely manner 
in exercising its fiduciary duty, the Council should be satisfied that the proposals 
put forward are a prudent use of the Authority’s resources in both the short and 
long term; that the proposals strike a fair balance between the interests of 
Council taxpayers and ratepayers on the one hand and the community’  s 
interests in adequate and efficient services on the other; and that they are 
acting in good faith for the benefit of the community whilst complying with all 
statutory duties. 

 
Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 also imposes a statutory duty on 

the Council to monitor during the financial year its expenditure and income 
against the budget calculations. If the monitoring establishes that the budgetary 
situation has deteriorated, the Council must take such action as it considers 

necessary to deal with the situation. This might include, for instance, action to 
reduce spending in the rest of the year, or to increase income, or to finance the 

shortfall from reserves. 

 

Financial Implications: 

 
The financial implications are as outlined in the report 

 

Appendices: 
None. 

 

Background papers: 
Please list any background documents to this report and include a hyperlink where possible. 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this 

report. 

 

Page 26



Term Meaning 
  

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 27



APPENDIX 1 
 
 
APPENDIX 1 Dec-25 

2026/27 - 2028/29 Budget Proposals 
2026/27 2027/28 2028/29 

£m £m £m 

Rapid Response Assessment software - Technological 
efficiencies 

 HAC (£0.009)     

BEST - review charges   HAC (£0.010)     

BEST - introduce card payments  HAC (£0.003)     

Community Equipment - procurement review  HAC (£0.020)     

Community Equipment - Reconfigure out of hours service  HAC (£0.038)     

Telecare - target new customers  HAC (£0.035)     

Telecare - tech first approach  HAC (£0.030)     

Falcon & Griffin - review of rotas  HAC (£0.015)     

Commissioned Services - review of client contribution limit 
for day services  HAC (£0.253)     

IMPOWER review  HAC (£0.667) (£0.667) (£0.667) 

IMPOWER review  HAC (£1.000) (£1.000) (£1.000) 

Persona Supported living rate review  HAC (£0.250) (£0.250)   

Retender of Neighbourhood housing support contract  HAC (£0.047)     

Reduction of Leisure council subsidy  HAC (£0.125) (£0.155) (£0.220) 

Live Well GM Delivery partner - funding for role  HAC (£0.027)     

Live Well restructure  HAC (£0.100)     

          

Victoria Family Centre delivery model review  CYP (£0.050) (£0.050)   

Support at home reduced demand  CYP (£0.035)     

School Improvement Service - reduction due to 
academisation 

 CYP (£0.100)     

Governance Support - full recovery from schools  CYP (£0.109)     

Business Support Use of Magic Notes software  CYP (£0.100) (£0.100)   

CSE Team - small restructure  CYP (£0.035) (£0.015)   

Residential homes / CWD - step down of residential 

placements 
 CYP (£1.000)     

Various Building costs  CYP (£0.100)     

          

Temporary Accommodation demand reduction  CCS (£0.377)     

Staffing changes - use of HPG funding  CCS (£0.053)     

HR Service Transformation savings  CCS (£0.075)     

Review of payroll transactional charges  CCS (£0.050)     

FAIR - invest to save Fraud officer reduce expenditure 
leakage 

 CCS (£0.050)     

Law & Democratic services - reduction in external agency 
staff 

 CCS (£0.100)     

Law & Democratic services - burial service fees  CCS (£0.040)     

Strategic Partnerships staffing review  CCS (£0.050)     

Strategic Workforce review  CCS (£2.000)     

Reduction in Third party spend  CCS (£1.000) (£1.000) (£1.000) 

Debt refinancing  CCS (£0.500)     

          

TOTAL DRAFT BUDGET PROPOSALS (£8.453) (£3.237) (£2.887) 

 
 

Page 28



 

  
 

Report to: Audit Committee Date: 20 October 2025 

Subject: 
Progress Update from the Council to the Statutory 

Recommendation received from the External Auditor under 
schedule 7 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 

Report of Director of Finance S151 Officer 

 
Summary 

1. The Council’s external Auditors, Forvis Mazars, presented the outcome of 

their audit work in relation to their judgements in the area of the Council’s 

Value for Money arrangements for the 2021/22 and 2022/23 financial years to 

the December Audit Committee meeting. They identified three significant 

weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements. These weaknesses are across all 

three reporting criteria that they are required to consider under the Code of 

Audit Practise, namely; financial sustainability, governance and for improving 

the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of services. 

 

2. Forvis Mazars determined that use of their statutory reporting powers under 

the Local Audit Accountability Act 2014 was necessary and issued a statutory 

recommendation formally to the Chief Executive on 12 December 2024. They  

recommended that  

 

           “The Council should, as a matter of urgency, develop a comprehensive 

Council wide improvement plan to reflect the transformation and cultural 

change needed across all departments, to ensure the Council can deliver the 

range, level and quality of services that it deems appropriate and within its 

statutory responsibilities in a financially sustainable way. Appropriate 

management and member oversight is required to ensure the improvement 

plan is delivering changes that are embedded into the organisation." 

 

A response was provided by the Council to the January 2025 Audit 

Committee meeting which included the publication and approval of an 

improvement action plan which was also subsequently approved at Council. 

 

This report provides the third update on activity and delivery against this 

action plan with the previous updates being brought in April and July 2025 

and highlights the improvement work that has been carried out by the 

Assurance Boards. In addition to the work carried out by the Boards there 

have been Council wide briefings, Senior Management sessions and Strategic 

Leadership Team engagement with the improvement work and compliance 

sprints. 

Classification: 

Open 

Decision Type: 

Non-Key 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7



This update provides the latest position against the wider Improvement Work 

Plan and Audit recommendations. 

 

Recommendation(s) 

3. The Audit Committee is asked to: 

a. Note the progress detailed in the action plan update. 

b. Continue to endorse the action plan ensuring Member oversight 

through Audit and Overview and Scrutiny committees. 

Reasons for recommendation(s)  

This report provides assurance of delivery and progress so far against the 

improvement plan that was developed in response to the statutory 

recommendation. 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

4. n/a 

_________________________________________________________ 

Report Author and Contact Details: 

Name:  Neil Kissock 
Position: Director of Finance (S151 Officer) 
Department: Corporate Core Department 
E-mail: n.kissock@bury.gov.uk 

________________________________________________________________ 

Background 

5. This report provides a third progress update on the Improvement Action Plan 

which was agreed by Audit Committee in January 2025.  The last update was 

provided to the Audit Committee in July. 

 

Improvement Action Plan Progress 

 

6. There continues to be progress made within expected target date across 

some of the plan. The plan in Appendix 1 was split into the following areas: 

 

a. Financial Resilience (including financial strategy): All actions are 

on track or complete.  The Finance Board continues to be run monthly 

overseeing the key milestones in the Improvement work plan.  At 

September, the Board was updated on the opportunities from the zero 

based budget longlist and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 

risk areas to be considered along with the immediate actions and 

budget timetable with the revised list of budget options to come back to 

the next board.  This will then be on track for delivery of the MTFS, this 

matter will be considered by Cabinet at their meeting in November. 

 

Page 30



b. Finance Capacity and Transformation (actions in relation to the 

finance restructure): With regards to Phase 1, job adverts are 

currently live for the strategic lead level roles, with the next tier down 

due to be advertised imminently.  For Phase 2 – the completed work 

from the Zero Based Budgeting project has informed the structure 

required going forward, the job descriptions and consultation have 

been drafted with view to consultation going live in November. 

 

c. Governance and Compliance including Estate Management and 

Leadership and Governance Arrangements:  All of these actions are 

now complete with assurance of delivery of the wider Improvement 

Work Plan being held with the Property and Estates Board. 

Progress of the Six Assurance Boards 

Since the last report further development has taken place with regards to the 

functionality of the Boards.  A workshop was held in August with the Board chairs to 

review and refresh documentation, links and escalations between the Boards and a 

reminder of decision making processes. 

The output from the workshop along with other mapping exercises and review of the 

workplan is forming the basis of a six month review of the work of the Boards.  The 

outputs of this will be reported at a later meeting. 

The below provides a summary of Improvement Work Plan activity (in addition to 

above) by each Board: 

 Commercial 

 Supported dissolution of Six Town Housing 

 Continuing to develop and deliver the North Of Rock Area (NORA) 

acquisition strategy 

 List of all joint ventures developed for review 

 Finance 

 Approved updated contract procedure rules for roll out 

 Procurement Sub-group set up to be responsible for continuous 

improvement 

 Refresh of Social Value policy completed and approved 

 Zero Based Budget process completed in preparation for Phase 2 of 

Finance restructure and MTFS delivery 

 Quarterly monitoring approved before Cabinet 

 Governance and Assurance 

 A Health and Safety sub-group has been set up to report into 

Governance and Assurance Board to allow for more detailed 

monitoring and delivery of Health and Safety actions. 

Page 31



 A new Compliance dashboard has been drafted to support escalation 

of issues and identification of any patterns or trends in performance.  

Some statistics include:  

o At March 2023, 89.3% of PDRs completed in the last 12 months 

compared to 50.1% the previous year. 

o 85.7% compliance with Health & Safety e-learning 

o A reduction in the average number of days taken to respond to 

Councillor casework from 9.3 days to 7.2 days. 

 Internal Audit recommendations continue to be monitored and actioned 

(see end of this report) 

 The Annual Governance Statement is at final draft stage and on track. 

 Performance, Delivery and Transformation 

 Digital roadmap for transformation has been presented and agreed. 

 A first draft of the Transformation Strategy has been completed but 

further inputs are required in the next stage of development. 

 Unit 4 Implementation is on track however two technical development 

areas are to be expedited with additional capacity to ensure planned 

Go Live in April. 

 Corporate and Service Planning continues to be monitored for 2025/26 

with a timetable in place to developing plans for 2026/27.  This 

timetable should allow for an even earlier start for managers to create 

service plans and follow up with PDRs within timescale next year. 

 Quarter 1 Corporate Plan performance was assured with Quarter 2 on 

track for publication. 

 Discussion at Board regarding AI technology and support for tools to 

be used in Childrens Services. 

 Property and Estates 

 New Fire Safety strategy developed and supported by 55 new fire 

marshalls trained. 

 New FM structure designed as part of wider restructure within 

Corporate Landlord 

 Further expansion of Estates Transformation Programme supported by 

additional capacity 

 Supporting ongoing site identification for Pupil Referral Unit 

 Project Team established for Town Hall refurbishment programme 

 Work to develop single asset list further with interface to Concerto or as 

part of financial transformation programme 

 Regeneration 

 Delivery of Bury Flexi Hall and Market: canopies 1 and 2 installed, 

foundation activity complete, delivery and installation of structural 

timber columns. 

Page 32



 Delivery of Radcliffe Hub and Market Chambers: solar panel 

installation complete, upper floor slab cast, link building frame and fit 

out completed. 

 Prestwich Village: Phase 1a Travel Hub works complete, 1 week ahead 

of schedule 

 Ongoing support for delivery of Northern Gateway 

List of demonstrable improvements: 

 Fixed asset register produced with 635 properties identified.  The list has 

been reconciled between Finance and Land and Property. 

 Full RAAC assurance now achieved across schools, housing, commercial and 

administrative buildings. 

 FAGEL assurance provided for key administrative buildings and underway for 

wider estate 

 Significant investment and recruitment into Facilities Management/Corporate 

Landlord structure 

 Procurement transformation plan has been approved 

 Unit 4 project – Technical specifications for period July – September have 

been delivered. Chart of account principles agreed in February 2025, chart of 

accounts agreed pre ZBB process in July, post ZBB chart of accounts on 

track to be signed off on 1st November 2025. 

 For neighbourhoods: List of council owned properties developed, detailed 

neighbourhood profiles currently being refreshed, placemats which describe 

the community capacity available in each area, funding approved to recruit to 

a neighbourhood estates strategy programme lead and specification for GM 

Live Well hubs in place. 

 Additional subgroups set up for the Board as need has been identified 

(Procurement and Health & Safety). 

 With regards to annual PDRs, prior to January 2025 despite regularly monthly 

communications highlighting compliance, it remained consistently around 

55%.  A targeted programme at the start the year using a combination of 

communications from senior management and engagement at manager 

forums resulted in a 89.3% compliance rate in March 2025. 

 With regards to Ombudsman complaints, for Bury 71% of complaints 

investigated were upheld compared to 81% in similar authorities.  

Ombudsman decisions for 24/25 have shown a reduction in upheld cases. 

In 23/24 - 26 matters were investigated and 23 upheld 

In 24/25 - 14 matters were investigated and 10 upheld 

 In terms of monitoring the LGO process and tackling the large number of 

complaints in Children’s Services, sometimes involving the same complainant 

with multiple complaints. Officers maintain an accurate record and meet the 

required deadlines with support from the Council’s LGO link Officer who has 

developed a matrix tool. This is sent to relevant Officers and Directors to 

make them aware of live cases with deadlines for actions required and 

evidence to be produced for the LGO. The latest data shows the impact of this 

process and demonstrates the improvements made.  

Page 33



 The LGO have welcomed significant strides the Council has made over the 

last 18 months improving its complaint functions. In addition there is now a 

centralised Policy and Compliance team that oversees all casework and 

compliance. Additional oversight and accountability is provided by the 

Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. (The LGO report will be on the 

November 2025 meeting agenda). 

 Senior Management Forum events have focused on a culture of compliance 

with a rotation of key themes.  In May the focus was on Health and Safety, 

Service Planning and Risk Management.  In September this was key process 

compliance, complaints, member casework and Information Governance. 

 Information Governance performance monitoring is completed by Governance 

and Assurance Board on a monthly basis.  This will be supported going 

forward by the newly developed dashboard.  

 The Information Governance policy framework has been reviewed, all policies 

has been reviewed in line with legislative requirements. All documentation is 

available on the Council’s intranet site. Data breach recording has been 

reviewed and an electronic reporting system is now in place. 

 The Record Of Processing Activity (ROPA) has been audited and this has 

provided a moderate level of assurance and listed a number of areas of good 

practice including that it is stored on SharePoint with restricted access 

ensuring that it cannot be amended by unauthorised personnel and in addition 

is automatically backed up every 12 hours through our Microsoft processes.  

The ROPA template contains suitable headings that cover all the information 

required to be compliant with GDPR. The responsibilities of Information Asset 

Owners, Managers & Administrators are detailed in new intranet pages and in 

the IG framework which was approved in November 2024.  A full annual 

ROPA review process has been created and approved and commenced in 

September 2025. A Managers IG Guidance document has been added to the 

intranet. The document informs managers that they are responsible for 

reviewing the ROPA at least annually and provides relevant information as 

well as a step-by-step guide to completing the ROPA. The Policy & 

Compliance Team have been proactive in advising system owners that they 

must complete the ROPA. A reminder was issued to all Directors in October 

2024 and the team carried out a drop-in session at a Senior Managers event 

in February 2025. 

 

 

Audit Recommendations Progress 

As reported at September Governance and Assurance Board the total number of 
recommendations currently being tracked is 21.  This comprises of 15 from the 
original set of recommendations (as of January 2025), and 6 recommendations from 

follow ups which have taken place since January 2025. 9 recommendations relate to 
system updates. The upgrade to information at work has taken place, all work has 

taken place to provide assurance that documentation is held in line with our GDPR 

Page 34



obligations. Governance and Assurance Board are assured that relevant and 
updated retention policies are held by services. The work required to comply with the 

historic recommendation is being overseen by the performance, delivery and 
transformation Board. All other audit recommendations have a completion date and 

are tracked by the Board. 

Governance and Assurance Board now receive updates regarding the compliance 
with audit recommendations at first and second stage follow ups; this has shown an 
improvement in compliance with audit recommendations at an earlier stage. The 

table below shows compliance with audit recommendations at first and second follow 
ups for the periods March – June and July – September. 

 

 

 

 
_________________________________________________________ 

Links with the Corporate Priorities: 

The production and publication of the Statement of Accounts and value for money opinion 

provides valuable information to the residents of the Council and to its suppliers.  

Responding and providing assurance to our external auditors reaffirms that a strong 

financially sustainable Council is essential to the delivery of the Let’s do it Strategy. 

_________________________________________________________ 

Equality Impact and Considerations: 

Under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the ‘general duty’ on public authorities is set out 

as follows: A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 

need to - (a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that 

is prohibited by or under this Act. (b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who 

share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. (c) foster good 

relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Fully Implemented Partially Implemented Superseded Outstanding

First Follow Up

March - June July Sept

Page 35



do not share it. The public sector equality duty (specific duty) requires us to consider how we 

can positively contribute to the advancement of equality and good relations and demonstrate 

that we are paying ‘due regard’ in our decision making in the design of policies and in the 

delivery of services. Internal Audit provide assurance to Committee Members and the public 

that the organisation is delivering services in line with agreed policies and procedures which 

have considered the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. 

 

 

Environmental Impact and Considerations: 

n/a no decision required 

 

Assessment and Mitigation of Risk: 

Risk / opportunity  Mitigation  

Reputational risk This update response to our improvement 
plan provides assurance as to the delivery of 
the improvements required 

_________________________________________________________ 

Legal Implications: 

To be completed by the Council’s Monitoring Officer. 

7. This is an update on the progress of the improvement plan pursuant to auditors 

recommendations. Audit Committee agreed the actions would be reviewed by 

Members with Audit and Overview and Scrutiny Committee receiving regular reports 

on the Council’s progress 

 

Financial Implications: 

To be completed by the Council’s Section 151 Officer. 

8. The annual production and audit of the statement of accounts and review of value for 

money arrangements are an essential part of any organisation and represent the 

financial position of the business for that particular financial year. For public sector 

organisations they are statutory and give the public and central government 

assurance that taxpayers money is being expended in an economic and efficient 

way. Approval of the improvement plan and the ongoing review of its delivery will 

provide assurance that the issues identified by the external auditors are addressed. 

 

Appendices: 

Appendix 1: Improvement Plan Activity Tracker 

 

Background papers: 

Page 36



Please list any background documents to this report and include a hyperlink where possible. 

Please include a glossary of terms, abbreviations and acronyms used in this report.  

  

Term Meaning 

MAG Members Assurance Group 

ELT Executive Leadership Team 

RAAC Reinforced autoclaved aerated concrete 

NORA North of Rock Area 

MTFS Medium term financial strategy 

GAB Governance and Assurance Board 

IG Information Governance 

ROPA Record of Processing Activity 

LGO Local Government Ombudsman 

 

Page 37



Appendix 1: Improvement Plan Activity Tracker 

Improvement 
Theme 

Improvement 
Action 

Council Response Timescale Officer Member RAG Comments 

Financial 
Resilience 

Financial 
Strategy 

The S151 to chair a monthly strategic finance 
board, madeup of senior officers from all of the 

service directorates, with responsibility for 
monitoring delivery of the in-year revenue 

budget and capital delivery programme and 
production of the subsequent years’ revenue 
budget, capital programme and medium term 

financial strategy 

Feb-25 
Director of 

Finance 
Cllr Thorpe COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Financial 
Resilience 

Financial 
Strategy 

Detailed 2026/27 budget timetable agreed 
setting out the approach, workstreams and 

timelines supporting production of proposals 
to address the structural funding gap. This will 
build on the agreed strategy and involve a zero 
based budget review of all council services and 

identification of proposals that will enable a 
balanced budget to be set without recourse to 

reserves over the current medium term 
financial strategy the timetable and approach 

will include the identification of additional 
capacity requirements to support the budget 
work and be funded from the ongoing capital 
receipt flexibilities in place to support council 

and service transformation 

Mar-25 
Director of 

Finance 
Cllr Thorpe COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

P
age 38



Financial 
Resilience 

Financial 
Strategy 

Development of budget proposals, involving 
the wider workforce, on a service basis through 
consideration of:  The key cost drivers affecting 

their services, Current service performance 
levels including a productivity assessment and 
how they compare to benchmark councils and 
‘best in class’,  Current service standards being 

operated to and the  
scope for changes in those standards including 

any elements of the service that could be 
stopped or reduced,  Consideration of different 
models of service delivery, Opportunities from 

implementing different ways of working, 
including self-service if appropriate,  The 

impact of their proposals on other service 
areas i.e. either in requiring their input and 

support in delivering the change or in 
potentially increasing costs elsewhere,  

Opportunities for additional income 
generation,  The impact of their proposals on 

the customer 

Oct-25 
Director of 

Finance 
Cllr Thorpe ON TRACK   

Finance 
Capacity and 

Transformation 

Finance 
Restructure 

 Consult on phase 1 of new Finance Structure Jan-25 
Director of 

Finance 
Cllr Thorpe COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Finance 
Capacity and 

Transformation 

Finance 
Restructure 

Begin Recruitment to phase 1 of new Finance 
Structure 

Mar-25 
Director of 

Finance 
Cllr Thorpe BEHIND 

Recruitment 
partners 

procured, expect 
recruitment to 

start in July 

P
age 39



Finance 
Capacity and 

Transformation 

Finance 
Restructure 

Develop phase 2 of new Finance Structure for 
consultation informed by the Unit 4 upgrade 

transformation programme 
Sep-25 

Director of 
Finance 

Cllr Thorpe BEHIND 

Job decriptions 
and consultation 
drafted with view 

to go live in 
November 

Finance 
Capacity and 

Transformation 

Unit 4 ERP 
System 

Upgrade 

Agree detailed programme plan, capacity 
requirements and governance arrangements to 

enable delivery of the upgraded system and 
planned benefits in April 2026 

Feb-25 
Director of 

Finance 
Cllr Thorpe COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Estate 
Management 

Completion of the remaining RAAC’s surveys 
and any subsequent actions undertaken as may 

be required 
Feb-25 

Executive 
Director 

Place 
Cllr Quinn COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Estate 
Management 

Completion of single reconciled estate asset 
register 

Apr-25 
Executive 
Director 

Place 
Cllr Quinn COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Estate 
Management 

Consolidation of the council’s property 
function within the new Place Directorate with 
responsibility for:  Strategic Asset Management 
including delivery of the planned reduction in 

the size of the estate,  Identification and 
delivery of planned and cyclical maintenance, 
Property compliance and safety, Responsive 

repairs 

Apr-25 
Executive 
Director 

Place 
Cllr Quinn COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Leadership 
and 

Governance 
Arrangements 

Establishment of six new assurance boards 
with agreed terms of reference and 12 month 
forward plan, to ensure that there is a culture 
of compliance across the Council, the Boards 

will provide management oversight across 
Council activity, the work of the Boards will 

align to the corporate plan 

Feb-25 
Director of 

Law and 
Governance 

Cllr Rafiq COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

P
age 40



Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Leadership 
and 

Governance 
Arrangements 

Governance and Assurance Board will have 
responsibility for overseeing implementation of 
all outstanding recommendations from internal 
audit reports, which is currently the role of the 

corporate governance group. 

Feb-25 
Director of 

Law and 
Governance 

Leader and 
Cabinet 

Members 
via MAG 

COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Leadership 
and 

Governance 
Arrangements 

Terms of reference (TOR) prepared for all 
Boards/Member Assurance group and revised 

TOR for ELT 
Feb-25 

Director of 
Law and 

Governance 

Leader and 
Cabinet 

Members 
via MAG 

COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Leadership 
and 

Governance 
Arrangements 

The assurance reports will be formally received 
by a Members Assurance Group made up of 

Cabinet members. 
Mar-25 

Director of 
Law and 

Governance 

Leader and 
Cabinet 

Members 
via MAG 

COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Leadership 
and 

Governance 
Arrangements 

Revised PDR and Induction processes and 
documentation to reflect updated compliance, 

control and management requirements and 
related management development needs. 

Mar-25 
Director of 
People and 

Inclusion 
Cllr Rafiq COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

Governance 
and 

Compliance 

Leadership 
and 

Governance 
Arrangements 

Officer declarations of interest will now be held 
by the Director of Law & Governance, this will 

bring Officer declarations in line with the 
system currently in place for Members. This 

will be in addition to the existing 
conflict/declarations of gifts and hospitality 

reporting procedures 

Dec-24 
Director of 

Law and 
Governance 

Cllr Rafiq COMPLETE  Now Complete. 

 

 

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES
	6 Draft 2026/27 Revenue Budget
	7 COUNCIL IMPROVEMENT PLAN

